IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC08-60

PETER VENTURA,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Mark S. Gruber
Florida Bar No. 0330541
Maria Perinetti
Florida Bar No. 0013837
CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL
COUNSEL-MIDDLE REGION
3801 Corporex Park Drive, Suite 210
Tampa, Florida 33619
813-740-3544
Counsel for Defendant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant was convicted of first degree murder after a jury trial and sentenced to death on January 21, 1988. The judgment and sentence were affirmed on direct appeal by this Court in *Ventura v. State*, 560 So.2d 217 (Fla. 1990) *cert.den.*, 498 U.S. 951, 111 S.Ct. 372 (1990). Ventura filed a motion for post conviction relief in the trial court. The trial court's summary denial of Ventura's motion was reversed by this Court due to public records issues. *State v. Ventura*, 673 So.2d 479 (Fla. 1996). Ventura then filed an amended postconviction motion in 1996, which was denied after an evidentiary hearing in 1998. This Court affirmed the denial of post-conviction relief and denied habeas relief in *Ventura v. State*, 794 So.2d 553 (Fla. 2001) *cert. den.* 535 U.S. 1098, 122 S.Ct. 2296 (2002).

A Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus by a Person in State Custody under 28 U.S.C. §2254 was filed in the United States District Court Middle District of Florida on October 4, 2002. The Habeas petition was denied by Order dated July 30, 2004. *Ventura v. Moore*, (M.D. Fla. Jul. 30, 2004) (No.02-01159 CV-ORL-19KRS). The Eleventh Circuit affirmed the denial of habeas corpus relief on August 9, 2005. *Ventura v. Attorney General of Florida*, 419 F.3d 1269 (11th Cir. 2005).

This case is one of a number of challenges to Florida's lethal injection method of execution brought by death row inmates after the Diaz execution in December of 2006. During the proceedings before the Governor's Commission on the Administration of Lethal Injection and the subsequent litigation in *Lightbourne* v. McCollum, 969 So.2d 326 (Fla. 2007) and Schwab v. State, 969 So.2d 318 (Fla. 2007) the Appellee has successfully urged that the trial courts take a wait and see approach to cases like this, arguing that Lightbourne was the "lead case" on the subject of lethal injection in Florida. In the meantime, the United States Supreme Court took up the lethal injection issue in *Baze v. Rees* (U.S. No. 07-5439, April 16, 2008). The State successfully opposed arguments by Lightbourne and Schwab that their cases should be delayed until after the Supreme Court's decision in Baze, and this Court eventually decided those cases in the State's favor while Baze was still pending. Id. Thereafter, the State has, for the most part successfully, taken a hurry-up posture in the lethal injections cases that remained around the state.

In the instant case, Ventura filed a successive motion on October 22, 2007. PC-R Vol. I, 1-27. The motion, which was eventually summarily denied, contained four claims, three of which are asserted here. Rearranged, they are: 1) Newly discovered evidence shows that Florida's lethal injection method of execution violates the Eighth Amendment; 2) Fla. Stat. §945.10 (2006) as implemented by

the protocols, which conceals the identity of the participants in an execution, is unconstitutional; and 3) Fla. Stat. §27.702, which as interpreted by this Court prohibits CCRC from filing a §1983 federal rights suit challenging lethal injection, is unconstitutional.

The trial court summarily denied these claims on December 7, 2007 and Ventura took this appeal.

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction. Art. V, § 3(b)(1) Fla. Const.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Ventura requested an evidentiary hearing on his lethal injection claims. PC-R Vol. I, 3. Fla.R. Crim.P. 3.851(f)(5)(B) provides that a defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on postconviction claims for relief unless the motion, files, and records in the case conclusively show that the movant is entitled to no relief. In reviewing a trial court's summary denial of postconviction relief without an evidentiary hearing, this Court must accept all allegations in the motion as true to the extent they are not conclusively rebutted by the record. To uphold the trial court's summary denial, the claims must be either facially invalid or conclusively refuted by the record. *Hodges v. State*, 885 So.2d 338 (Fla. 2004); *McLin v. State*, 827 So.2d 948 (Fla. 2002).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Baze v. Rees announced a standard for evaluating the constitutionality of lethal injection procedures which embraces the concept of risk, unlike the inherent cruelty standard which this Court established in *Jones* and has since applied to Florida's lethal injection method of execution in *Sims*, *Schwab* and *Lightbourne*. Because the lower court was bound by *Lightbourne*, the lower court's summary denial of relief should be reversed.

In part because a risk standard requires greater scrutiny of DOC procedures, Fla. Stat. §945.10 (2006), which conceals the identity of the participants in an execution, is unconstitutional.

Fla. Stat. §27.702 and 27.7001, which, as interpreted by this Court in *Diaz*, prevent CCRC attorneys from filing civil rights challenges to Florida's lethal injection method of execution by way of 42 U.S.C. §1983, are unconstitutional. The Court's rational in *Diaz*, which was that CCRC clients seeking to file an action challenging lethal injection may do by way of a petition for a writ of habeas corpus under 28 U.S.C. §2254 has been undermined by the recent decision in which the US Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals rejected Mark Schwab's application to file a §2254 petition challenging lethal injection.

ARGUMENT I

NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE SHOWS THAT FLORIDA'S LETHAL INJECTION METHOD OF EXECUTION VIOLATES THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT

The newly discovered evidence Ventura relies on has come to light since

Diaz execution in December of 2006 and its aftermath. The new evidence derives

from the following sources:

October 2006 when the Florida Department of Corrections' (hereinafter FDOC) secret protocol was made public; December 2006, when news reports carried accounts of Angel Diaz's execution; evidence made public in 2007 about FDOC procedures, training and implementation of lethal injection and the undue risks of the procedures and practice presented to The Governor's Commission on the Administration of Lethal Injection (hereinafter Commission) and contained in their Report; the May 9, 2007 protocols issued by FDOC, the August 1, 2007 protocols issued by FDOC; FDOC's 2007 response to the Commission's report and testimony presented at hearings conducted by the Honorable Judge Carven Angel, 5th Judicial Circuit, Marion County, in the matter of *Lightbourne v. State*.

Moreover, factual information about lethal injection has emerged over the past year that is available through traditional research sources such as law review articles, case authority and the like. Ventura alleged with specificity, *inter alia*,

that the current (August 1, 2007) FDOC protocols and their proposed implementation were defective in that:

The executioner need merely be an adult who has undergone a criminal background check and who is sufficiently trained to administer the lethal chemicals. . . The new protocols do not require the "team warden" to obtain the employment records, error rates, and proficiency testing of the execution team members . . . The August 1, 2007 protocols require evidence of written quarterly training sessions but do not specify what should be included in the written record or specify what training was received . . . while the new protocols do require some written records of activities, there is still no written record of when the lethal chemicals begin to flow, nor is there a written printout of the data from the heart monitors . . . clothing and other apparatus used to conceal the identities of the executioners and medically qualified personnel . . . impair the executioners and medically qualified personnel's ability to monitor intravenous infiltration and other potential problems. Deficiencies in the design and set up of the chamber . . . include but are not limited to: inadequate lighting, the placement of the team member administering the lethal chemicals, the length of tubing necessary because of the chamber decision which creates an undue risk that the executioners will fail to detect difficulty or problems with anaesthetic consciousness or intravenous access. Additionally, the syringes are kept in a syringe holder, which is a departure from clinical practice. . . FDOC has also failed to obtain or require the use of a bispectral index monitor to monitor anaesthetic depth . . . there is nothing in the new protocols that defines a procedure for notification to the inmate or the inmate's counsel should the medical examination reveal any potential complications with venous access or any other aspect of

the lethal injection other than to say that the "team warden" will "resolve the issue." The August 2007 protocols do not address the possible remedies for complications noted in the medical examinations that take place a week prior to the execution. The protocols merely state that the "team warden" will consult with the other team members that performed the evaluation and "conclude what is the more suitable method for venous access (peripheral or femoral) for the lethal injection process given the individual circumstances of the condemned. Additionally, there is no provision for the inmate to have his own designated independent physician or medically qualified professional present for the examination . . . The provision for Periodic Review and Certificate from the Secretary is insufficient to insure that there will not be a risk of unnecessary pain during the execution procedure. For example, all that is required is that the Secretary of the Department of Corrections certify to the Governor that "the Department is adequately prepared to carry out executions by lethal injection." The Certification is not required to contain how the lethal injection procedure was reviewed, what aspects the Secretary considered in his review of the procedures, or how the Secretary verified that he does in fact have all the "necessary procedures, equipment, facilities, and personnel in place..." In addition, the Certification is to be provided to the inmate and the inmate's counsel, after the review has been completed. There is no provision for the inmate or the inmate's counsel to be present during the actual reviewing process and certification . . . the consciousness assessment required by the protocols falls far short of medical standards. The warden, who is charged with making the consciousness assessment, has no medical expertise beyond that required of a law enforcement officer . . .

Ventura also alleged that the protocols and their proposed implementation were defective for failure to draw on the well established fields of risk analysis, quality assurance and medical auditing.

The trial court summarily denied relief. PC-R Vol. I, 40. The court noted that since Ventura had filed his 3.851 motion, this Court decided *Lightbourne v*. *McCollum*, 969 So.2d 326 (Fla. 2007) and *Schwab v. State*, 969 So.2d 318 (Fla. 2007). The court denied relief without further analysis of Ventura's allegations.

The *Schwab* and *Lightbourne* decisions relied on by the trial court reaffirmed this Court's "inherent cruelty" standard previously articulated in *Jones v*. *State*, 701 So.2d 76 (Fla. 1997), where the Court reasoned that the "cruelty against which the Constitution protects a convicted man is cruelty inherent in the method of punishment." *Jones, id.*, citing *Louisiana ex rel. Francis v. Resweber*, 329 U.S. 459 (1947).

The *Lightbourne* decision did contain an additional paragraph to the effect that the Court would have denied relief even under some proposed standards involving a measure of "risk" of cruelty rather than "inherent cruelty" which were being urged by Schwab and Lightbourne as well as by other death row prisoners around the country. However, in a subsequent case initiated by Schwab, the Court unequivocally reaffirmed its adherence to an inherent cruelty standard:

Even taking Schwab's allegations as true, Schwab has not met the standard that this Court set forth in *Jones v. State*. 701 So.2d 76, 79 (Fla.1997):In order for a punishment to constitute cruel or unusual punishment, it must involve "torture or a lingering death" or the infliction of "unnecessary and wanton pain." Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153, 96 S.Ct. 2909, 49 L.Ed.2d 859 (1976); Louisiana ex rel. Francis v. Resweber, 329 U.S. 459, 67 S.Ct. 374, 91 L.Ed. 422 (1947). As the Court observed in Resweber: "The cruelty against which the Constitution protects a convicted man is cruelty inherent in the method of punishment, not the necessary suffering involved in any method employed to extinguish life humanely." *Id.* at 464, 67 S.Ct. at 376. See also Lightbourne v. McCollum, 969 So.2d 326, 32 Fla. L. Weekly S687 (Fla. Nov. 1, 2007) (reaffirming the standard announced in *Jones*, 701 So.2d at 79).

Schwab v. State, --- So.2d ----, (NO. SC07-2138) slip op. at 4-5 (Fla. Jan. 24, 2008).

On April 16, 2008, the United States Supreme Court decided *Baze v. Rees*, 551 U.S. ---- (2007) No. 07-5439. The *Baze* Court addressed the issue of what constitutional standard should be applied to method of execution cases. In fact, four standards emerged from the various opinions with only two having at least three justices joining. The opinion by Chief Justice Roberts, joined by Justices Kennedy and Alito articulated the standard as a "substantial risk of serious harm". Three other Justices, Breyer, Ginsburg and Souter, proposed a standard that requires a showing of an "untoward, readily avoidable risk of inflicting severe and

unnecessary pain". *Baze v. Rees*, Slip Op. at 11 (Ginsburg, J., dissenting); *Baze*, at 1 (Breyer, J., concurring). At any rate seven justices adopted some sort of standard involving the concept of risk. The inherent cruelty standard was embraced only by Justices Thomas and Scalia, who concurred in the judgment only because in their view the plurality standard, "along with petitioners' proposed 'unnecessary risk' standard and the dissent's 'untoward risk' standard' were not supported "in the original understanding of the Cruel and Unusual Punishments Clause." *Id.* J.

Thomas joined by J Scalia concurring in judgment only. In any event, this Court's reaffirmation of the *Jones* inherent cruelty standard in *Schwab* and *Lightbourne*, on which the court below expressly relied, is now in conflict with the plurality opinion in *Baze* and with the position taken by all but two of the members of the Supreme Court.

Schwab and Lightbourne also reaffirmed this Court's decision in Sims v.

State, 754 So.2d 657 (Fla. 2000) to accord heavy deference to the DOC with regard to virtually every aspect of the lethal injection protocols and the way they are implemented. Justice Thomas declined to join the plurality opinion in Baze in part because, in his view, comparative risk standards "require courts to resolve medical and scientific controversies" that he felt were "beyond judicial ken," and the judiciary should not, as he put it, "micromanage the State's administration of the

death penalty in this manner." The language and reasoning he employed are strikingly similar to that expressed by this Court in *Sims*, *Lightbourne* and *Schwab*. Since those views now represent the losing side, presumably the courts must now resolve at least some medical and scientific controversies and engage in at least some management of the administration of the death penalty. In any event, a standard which requires the court to assess the risk of severe pain involved in a procedure that admittedly will not cause unconstitutional pain if executed flawlessly necessarily requires the court to exercise greater scrutiny of the DOC's practices than a standard which merely requires determining whether a proposed method of execution is inherently cruel in the abstract.

The lower court did not assess the allegations before it in light of the risk standards announced in the *Baze* decision because it was bound by *Lightbourne* and *Schwab* and because *Baze* had not been decided yet. The result is that the trial court's decision is error, because Article I, section 17 of the Florida Constitution, the conformity clause, provides that: "The prohibition against cruel or unusual punishment, and the prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment, shall be construed in conformity with decisions of the United States Supreme Court which interpret the prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment provided in the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution."

Ventura's position is different from that of Schwab or Lightbourne in that there has not been a denial of certiorari by the Supreme Court regarding lethal injection in his case. His claims are timely because of the recent, emergence of factual and legal developments regarding lethal injection in Florida and elsewhere. This case should be remanded for consideration of the detailed factual allegations set out in Ventura's motion in light of the applicable risk standards of *Baze*.

ARGUMENT II

FLA. STAT. §945.10 (2006) AS IMPLEMENTED BY THE PROTOCOLS, WHICH CONCEALS THE IDENTITY OF THE PARTICIPANTS IN AN EXECUTION, IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL

Section 945.10, Fla. Stat. (2006) exempts from disclosure under Section 24(a), Article I of the Florida Constitution (the right to access public records):

(g) Information which identifies an executioner, or a person prescribing, preparing, compounding, dispensing, or administering a lethal injection.

Access to prisons by the press and public is a constitutional right. *Pell v. U.S. Procunier*, 417 U.S. 817 (1974). This access to prisons has been found to include access to view executions as well, based upon both historical traditions and the functional importance of public access to executions. *California First Amendment Coalition v. Woodford*, 299 F.3d 868 (C.A.9 2002). The right to view

executions includes all parts of the execution, including the manner in which intravenous lines are injected. *Id.* at 883. The court held that limitations on what parts of the execution were viewed by the public based on safety concerns for the prison staff members involved was not justified. *Id.* at 880. The court found that concerns that execution team members would be publically identified and retaliated against was "an overreaction, supported only by questionable speculation." *Id.* Importantly, the court pointed out that numerous high profile individuals are involved with the implementation of executions, including a warden, a governor and judges, and there is a significant history of safety around these publicly known officials. Id. at 882. Pennsylvania courts have likewise found safety concerns as a basis for protecting the identity of execution witnesses as wholly unsupported speculation. Travaglia v. Dept. of Corrections, 699 A.2d 1317, 1323 n.5 (Pa. Commw. Ct. 1997).

The litany of problems in administering lethal injections to condemned inmates in several states requires the disclosure of the identity of the members of the execution team. Executions carried out by anonymous team members puts an inmate at unnecessary or foreseeable risk of infliction of pain and violates due process. The burden to show an Eighth Amendment violation in capital punishment cases is on the condemned. Without access to the identities of the team members,

Mr. Ventura is unconstitutionally deprived of his ability to establish a violation. To deprive him of this information violates his rights under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to ensure his punishment is not cruel and unusual. Likewise, safety concerns for the members of the execution team are purely speculation and run counter to the evidence that far more prominent individuals involved in executions, such as judges, governors, and wardens, have not been the target of any serious or widespread harm. Finally, the cases in Missouri and North Carolina show that merely requiring the involvement of medical personnel is not a sufficient protection. Without access to the identities of these individuals, there is no way for a condemned to determine whether they are competent and qualified to ensure the Eighth Amendment is not violated.

Since the identity of the members of the execution team is protected by statute, there is no way for the petitioner to determine whether the involvement of any of these individuals creates a substantial risk of unnecessary pain during a lethal injection procedure. With the mounting evidence of botched executions continuing to grow, this statute deprives Mr. Ventura of his due process rights to ensure he is not subject to cruel and unusual punishment and therefore this statue is unconstitutional.

ARGUMENT III

FLA. STAT. §27.702, WHICH AS INTERPRETED BY THIS COURT PROHIBITS CCRC FROM FILING A §1983 FEDERAL RIGHTS SUIT CHALLENGING LETHAL INJECTION, IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

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