IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PETER VENTURA, Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC08-60

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #0410519 444 Seabreeze Blvd., 5th Floor Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 (386) 238-4990 Fax # (386) 226-0457 COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

To the extent that Ventura's lethal injection claim is construed as a *per se* challenge to lethal injection as a means of execution, that claim is untimely and procedurally barred because it could have been, but was not, raised within one year of January 2000 when lethal injection became Florida's method of execution. To the extent that this claim is based on the December 2006 execution of Angel Diaz, that claim is foreclosed by binding precedent from this Court. To the extent Ventura argues *Baze v. Rees*, 551 U.S. _____, 128 S. Ct. 1520, 170 L. Ed. 2d 420 (2008), has some impact on Florida, that issue was never raised at the trial level, is not reviewable on appeal, and has no merit.

Whether Section 945.10, Florida Statutes, is unconstitutional is untimely, has no merit, and is foreclosed by binding precedent.

Whether Section 27.702, Florida Statutes, is unconstitutional is untimely, has no merit, and is foreclosed by binding precedent.

ARGUMENT

CLAIM I – THE LETHAL INJECTION CLAIMS

This claim is procedurally barred because Ventura failed to raise this claim within one year of the enactment of the lethal injection statute in January 2000. To the extent that Ventura's challenge to lethal injection per se as the method of execution, and the means undertaken to enact that method of execution, are based on facts other than the events of the Diaz execution, those are claims that are not available to him. Ventura, like all other death row inmates, was provided a 30-day "window of time" following the enactment of §922.105(1) & (2), Florida Statutes (2000), within which to elect the method of execution. Ventura made no election. As such, he is procedurally barred from challenging the change in method because he elected lethal injection as the method of execution by such waiver. Any claims for relief on any lethal injection-based grounds **other** than those arising from the execution of Angel Diaz remain procedurally barred and untimely because they were not raised within one year of the time that lethal injection became a method of execution in Florida. See Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.851(d)(2); Hill v. State, 921 So. 2d 579, 584 (Fla. 2006); Gudinas v. State, 879 So. 2d 616, 618 (Fla. 2004); King v. State, 808 So. 2d 1237, 1244-45 (Fla. 2002).

To the extent this claim is based on the execution of Angel Diaz, the Circuit

Court denied relief on Ventura's lethal injection claim on the authority of this Court's

decision in *Lightbourne* as follows:

<u>GROUND 1 – THE LETHAL INJECTIONS ARGUMENTS</u> Defendant alleges that newly discovered evidence proves Florida's method of execution by lethal injection violates the Eight Amendment prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment and therefore his sentence of death is unconstitutional.

The Supreme Court of Florida recently issued a comprehensive decision addressing the claims raised by defendant (*Lightbourne v. State*, Case No. SC06-2391 (Fla. Nov. 1, 2007). Based on that decision, and the prior decisions of the Florida Supreme Court, the Court finds that none of the issues raised by Defendant have merit. *Id., Sims v. State*, 654 So. 2d 657 (Fla. 2000), *Rolling v. State*, 944 So. 2d 176, 179 (Fla. 2006)(affirming trial curt's summary denial of lethal injection claim based on the *Lancet* article, relying on *Hill v. State*, 921 So. 2d 579 (Fla.), *cert. denied*, 126 S.Ct. 1441, 164 L.Ed.2d 141 (2006), and *Rutherford v. State*, 926 So. 2d 1100, 1113-1114 (Fla.), *cert. denied*, 126 S.Ct. 1191, 163 L.Ed.2d 1145 (2006), and *Diaz v. State*, 945 So. 2d 1136 (Fla. 2006). Those cases set out the current state of Florida law, and control the lethal injection claims contained in Defendant's motion. Accordingly, based on the foregoing caselaw, Defendant's claims are denied.

(R41).

The trial judge properly followed this Court's precedent. Florida Supreme Court decisions hold that execution by lethal injection does not constitute cruel and unusual punishment, and nothing before the Court calls the validity of that precedent into question. *See Diaz v. State*, 945 So. 2d 1136 (Fla. 2006); *Rolling v. State*, 944 So. 2d 176, 179 (Fla. 2006); *Rutherford v. State*, 926 So. 2d 1100, 1113 (Fla. 2006); *Hill* v. State, 921 So. 2d 579, 583 (Fla. 2006); See also Lightbourne v. McCollum, 969 So.
2d 326, 353 (Fla. 2007); Schwab v. State, 969 So. 2d 318, 325 (Fla. 2007); Israel v.
State, 33 Fla. L. Weekly S211 (Fla. March 20, 2008); Green v. State, 975 So. 2d 1090,
1115 (Fla. 2008); Lebron v. State, 33 Fla. L. Weekly S294 (Fla. May 1, 2008);
Woodel v. State, 33 Fla. L. Weekly S290 (Fla. May 1, 2008).

To the extent Ventura claims that the United State's Supreme Court decision in *Baze v. Rees*, 551 U.S. _____, 128 S. Ct. 1520, 170 L. Ed. 2d 428 (2008), issued April 16, 2008, calls into question this Court's decision in *Lightbourne*, this issue was never raised at the trial level. Thus, this issue is not reviewable on appeal. *See Lawrence v. State*, 969 So. 2d 294, 311 (Fla. 2007).

Further, this claim has no merit. *Baze* disposes completely of Ventura's lethal injection claim because the Court held that "an isolated mishap alone does not give rise to an Eighth Amendment violation, precisely because such an event, while regrettable, does not suggest cruelty, or that the procedure at issue gives rise to a 'substantial risk of serious harm.' *Id.*, at 842, 114 S. Ct. 1970, 128 L. Ed. 2d 811." *Baze v. Rees*, 128 S. Ct. 1520, 1531 (2008). The *Baze* Court expressly rejected the "unnecessary risk" standard that Ventura discusses at length in his brief. *Baze v. Rees*, 128 S. Ct. at 1532 ("Accordingly, we reject petitioners' proposed 'unnecessary risk' standard that Ventura's argument is, in its entirety, based upon a legal standard that

the United States Supreme Court expressly rejected, a fact which he does not acknowledge.

The *Baze* Court held that:

But an inmate cannot succeed on an Eighth Amendment claim simply by showing one more step the State could take as a failsafe for other, independently adequate measures. This approach would serve no meaningful purpose and would frustrate the State's legitimate interest in carrying out a sentence of death in a timely manner. *See Baze v. Parker*, 371 F.3d 310, 317 (6th Cir. 2004) (petitioner Baze sentenced to death in 1994); *Bowling v. Parker*, 138 F. Supp. 2d 821, 840 (ED Ky. 2001) (petitioner Bowling sentenced to death in 1991).

Baze v. Rees, 128 S.Ct. at 1537. Ventura has not even alleged any "alternative," and

has done nothing to attempt to plead a cognizable claim. Moreover, Baze holds that:

A stay of execution may not be granted on grounds such as those asserted here unless the condemned prisoner establishes that the State's lethal injection protocol creates a demonstrated risk of severe pain. He must show that the risk is substantial when compared to the known and available alternatives. A State with a lethal injection protocol substantially similar to the protocol we uphold today would not create a risk that meets this standard.

Baze v. Rees, 128 S.Ct. at 1537. (emphasis added). Florida's lethal injection procedures are substantially the same as the Kentucky procedures, with the notable

differences being that Florida's procedure uses a larger dose of thiopental sodium, and

incorporates a consciousness assessment that was cited approvingly by the Baze

dissenters.

Justice Ginsberg described this part of Florida's procedure as follows:

Recognizing the importance of a window between the first and second drugs, other States have adopted safeguards not contained in Kentucky's protocol. *See* Brief for Criminal Justice Legal Foundation as Amicus Curiae 19-23. [FN5] **Florida** pauses between injection of the first and second drugs so the warden can "determine, after consultation, that the inmate is indeed unconscious." *Lightbourne v. McCollum*, 969 So. 2d 326, 346 (Fla. 2007) (*per curiam*) (internal quotation marks omitted). The warden does so by touching the inmate's eyelashes, calling his name, and shaking him. *Id.*, at 347. [FN6] If the inmate's consciousness remains in doubt in Florida, "the medical team members will come out from the chemical room and consult in the assessment of the inmate." *Ibid.* During the entire execution, the person who inserted the IV line monitors the IV access point and the inmate's face on closed circuit television. *Ibid.*

[FN5] Because most death-penalty States keep their protocols secret, a comprehensive survey of other States' practices is not available. *See* Brief for American Civil Liberties Union et al. as *Amici Curiae* 6-12.

[FN6] Florida's expert in *Lightbourne v. McCollum*, 969 So. 2d 326 (Fla. 2007) (per curiam), who also served as Kentucky's expert in this case, testified that the evelash test is "probably the most common first assessment that we use in the operating room to determine ... when a patient might have crossed the line from being conscious to unconscious." 4 Tr. in Florida v. Lightbourne, No. 81-170-CF (Fla. Cir. Ct., Marion Cty.), p. 511, online at http://www.cjlf.org/files/LightbourneRecord.pdf (all Internet materials as visited Apr. 14, 2008, and in Clerk of Court's case file). "A conscious person, if you touch their eyelashes very lightly, will blink; an unconscious person typically will not." Ibid. The shaking and name-calling tests, he further testified, are similar to those taught in basic life support courses. See id., at 512.

Baze v. Rees, 128 S.Ct. at 1570-1571. (emphasis added).

No court of competent jurisdiction has ever held that execution by lethal

injection is unconstitutional on its face or as applied. Indeed, the controlling case law from the United States Supreme Court and the Florida Supreme Court is squarely to the contrary. *Baze*, supra; *Lightbourne*, supra; *Sims v. State*, 754 So. 2d 657, 668 (Fla. 2000) (lead case with evidentiary hearing); *Rolling v. State*, 944 So. 2d 176, 179 (Fla. 2006) (affirming trial court's summary denial of lethal injection claim based on the *Lancet* article, relying on *Hill v. State*, 921 So. 2d 579 (Fla.), *cert. denied*, 126 S.Ct. 1441, 164 L.Ed.2d 141 (2006), and *Rutherford v. State*, 926 So. 2d 1100, 1113-1114 (Fla.), *cert. denied*, 126 S.Ct. 1191, 163 L.Ed.2d 1145 (2006)), and *Diaz v. State*, 945 So. 2d 1136 (Fla. 2006). Those cases, along with *Lightbourne v. McCollum*, 969 So. 2d 326 (Fla. 2007), *cert. denied*, 2008 U.S. LEXIS 4194 (U.S. May 19, 2008), and *Schwab v. State*, 969 So. 2d 318 (Fla. 2007), *cert. denied*, 2008 U.S. LEXIS 4273 (U.S. May 19, 2008), set out the current state of Florida law.

In *Lightbourne*, this Court expressly considered and rejected the argument that the adoption of a different standard in *Baze* would affect this Court's ruling to uphold the constitutionality of Florida's execution procedures. In so doing, this Court decided, for all purposes, the significance and import of the events surrounding the execution of Angel Diaz in December of 2006. And, this Court's comment in *Lightbourne*, that "[a]lternatively, even if the Court did review this claim under a 'foreseeable risk' standard as Lightbourne proposes or 'an unnecessary' risk as the

Baze petitioners propose, we likewise would find that Lightbourne has failed to carry his burden of showing an Eighth Amendment violation," *Lightbourne*, 969 So. 2d at 352, has now been proven gratuitous, since the United States Supreme Court rejected the lesser, "unnecessary risk" standard sought by the *Baze* petitioners.

II. SECTION 945.10, FLORIDA STATUTES, IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL

Ventura claims Section 945.10, Florida Statutes, deprives him of his constitutional right to due process because he precluded from ascertaining the personal identity of his execution team, thus subjecting him to cruel and unusual punishment. This claim is untimely and has no merit. The circuit court judge followed binding precedent in holding:

<u>GROUND III – THE SECTION 945.10 CLAIM</u>

Defendant claims Section 945.10, Fla. Stat. is unconstitutional. The Court finds that this claim has no merit. *Provenzano v. State*, 761 So. 2d 1097, 1099 (Fla. 2000); *Bryan v. State*, 753 So. 2d 1244, 1250-51 (Fla. 2000). In *Bryan*, the Florida Supreme Court held:

Bryan's second issue is whether public records disclosure exemptions under section 945.10(1)(e), Florida Statutes (1999), and chapters 2000-2 and 2000-1 of the Laws of Florida are unconstitutional. The Court holds that the trial court properly decided that the statutory exemptions are constitutional. Article I, section 24 of the Florida Constitution provides that "every person has the right to inspect or copy any public record made or received in connection with the official business of any public body . . ., except with respect to records exempted pursuant to this section . . . " Art. I, § 24(a), Fla. Const. To that end, the legislature "may provide by general law for the exemption of records from the requirements of subsection (a) ... provided that such law shall state with specificity the public necessity justifying the exemption and shall be no broader than necessary to accomplish the stated purpose of the law." Id. § 24(c).

Section 945.10 provides, in part:

Confidential information.-

(1) Except as otherwise provided by law or in this section, the following records and information of the Department of Corrections are confidential and exempt from the provisions of s. 119.07(1) and s. 24(a), Art. I of the State Constitution:

• • • •

(e) Information which if released would jeopardize a person's safety.

§ 945.10, Fla. Stat. (1999). The exemption satisfies the requirements established in article I, section 24 in that the legislature provided a specific public necessity for the exemption as follows:

The Legislature finds that it is a public necessity that the department records enumerated in section 945.10(1), Florida Statutes, remain confidential and exempt from public disclosure as envisioned by the existing statute and rules because to provide otherwise would in some cases conflict with other existing law or would reveal information that would jeopardize the safety of the guards, inmates, and others. Thus, the harm from disclosure would outweigh any public benefit derived therefrom. . . . It is mandatory that prisons function as effectively, efficiently, and as nonviolently as possible. To release the exempted information to the public or to provide inmates with the information described in

section 945.10, Florida Statutes, would severely impede that function and would jeopardize the health and safety of those within and outside the prison system.

Ch. 94-83, § 2, at 303-04, Laws of Fla.; compare *Halifax Hosp. Med. Ctr. v. News-Journal Corp.*, 724 So. 2d 567, 569-70 (Fla. 1999)(holding that an exemption as to "strategic plans" was unconstitutional under article I, section 24(c) where there was no "justification for the breadth of the exemption"). Therefore, section 945.10(1)(e) satisfies the constitutional requirements for an exemption to the public records disclosure law since it provides a meaningful exemption that is supported by a thoroughly articulated public policy. n6

n6 Bryan also attacks section 945.10 under article II, section 3 of the Florida Constitution, which provides that the "powers of the state government shall be divided into legislative, executive and judicial branches. No person belonging to one branch shall exercise any powers appertaining to either of the other branches unless expressly provided herein." Art. II, § 3, Fla. Const. This argument is misplaced since the DOC is acting as a litigant by claiming a statutory exemption to a disclosure requirement; contrary to Bryan's argument, the DOC is not promulgating regulations on disclosure exemptions. Thus, whether the DOC is properly claiming an exemption is properly examined pursuant to an analysis under article I, section 24(c).

Next, section 922.10, Florida Statutes (1999), as amended by chapter 2000-2, section 1 of the Laws of Florida, provides that "information which, if released, would identify the executioner is confidential and exempt from the provisions of s. 119.07(1) and s. 24(a), Art. I of the State Constitution." § 922.10 Fla. Stat. (1999). Bryan's claim that this exemption is not supported by a public necessity is likewise unavailing. Chapter 2000-1, section 3 of the Laws of Florida provides the legislative finding that "the disclosure of information identifying a person . . . administering

a lethal injection for purposes of death sentence execution would jeopardize the person's safety and welfare by exposing that person to potential harassment, intimidation, and harm." Ch. 2000-1, § 3, Laws of Fla. Thus, the legislature provided the requisite public necessity for the exemption.

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